

BYLAWS OF THE HAMPTON ROADS COUNCIL OF VETERANS ORGANIZATIONS

ARTICLE I

Name

The name of the organization shall be Hampton Roads Council of Veterans Organizations (HRCVO).

ARTICLE II

Mission

Section 1. The mission of the HRCVO shall be to:

- a. observe patriotic holidays, ceremonies, celebrations, and programs, through coordination with member organizations in the Hampton Roads area.
- b. support commemorations and memorials honoring veterans who have honorably served the nation.
- c. promote love of country and the nation's flag.
- d. focus on imbuing patriotism in youth in the Hampton Roads area and beyond.

Section 2. The HRCVO shall not be governed by any member organization.

Section 3. The HRCVO shall not mandate the actions of any member organization.

ARTICLE III

Members

Section 1. Any veteran's organization and auxiliary, and any organization or individual with similar patriotic objectives is eligible for membership, pending approval by the HRCVO.

a. Individuals not associated with an organization and approved for membership will be recorded as a member of the Hampton Roads Council of Veterans Organizations Auxiliary, which will have a Director and official representatives chosen by its membership. This Auxiliary is considered a member organization.

Section 2. Application for membership to the HRCVO shall be made in writing.

Section 3. There shall be no fees or other financial obligations associated with membership. A voluntary \$50.00 donation will be solicited from each member organization annually to aide in deferring costs associated with holding commemorations.

Section 4. The head of each member organization, normally termed President, Director, or

Commander, and official representatives, must be identified to the HRCVO using the form provided annually by the HRCVO. Any person from a member organization may represent their organization however they must be designated in writing to the HRCVO when voting on any HRCVO matters. An individual may not represent more than one member organization.

Section 5. Any member organization or individual desiring to resign from the HRCVO shall submit intent to do so in writing to the HRCVO President.

ARTICLE IV Voting Rights

Section 1. Election of HRCVO officers shall be accomplished by the open election process.

Section 2. Election of officers shall be decided by a majority vote of the member organizations present, with each member organization having one vote.

Section 3. A quorum shall consist of five member organizations. All motions shall be determined by a majority vote of member organizations voting, with each member organization having one vote.

ARTICLE V Officers

Section 1. HRCVO officers shall consist of an Immediate Past President, President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Chaplain and three Directors. Officers shall perform duties as described by these Bylaws and parliamentary authority adopted by the HRCVO.

Section 2. During the September HRCVO meeting held in odd numbered years, the President shall appoint, subject to approval of the HRCVO, a Nominating Committee of three members.

Section 3. During the October HRCVO meeting in odd numbered years, the Nominating Committee Chairman will present nominations for candidates to fill the offices of President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and Chaplain. Additional nominations from the floor will be permitted. Subsequently, officers shall be elected in November by a show of hands, to serve a term of two years. The term of office shall begin immediately after installation at the January meeting.

Section 4. Subsequent to installation, the new elected President shall appoint three Directors to serve a term of two years, subject to approval by the HRCVO.

Section 5. No HRCVO member shall hold more than one office.

Section 6. Between elections, an unexpected vacancy for the office of President shall be filled by the Vice President. The HRCVO will elect a new Vice President to serve for the remainder of the term. If circumstances result in a term of less than one year, both the President and Vice President will serve the following two-year term. Additionally, if there is an unexpected vacancy of another office, the member organization from which the officer is a member should identify a replacement to the Directors. If the proposed candidate is deemed qualified, the Directors will propose a special election for the vacant position. Additional

nominations from the floor will be permitted. Subsequently, the new officer shall be elected by a show of hands to serve the remainder of the term.

Section 7. The President shall preside at all meetings. In the absence of the President, the Vice President will assume the duties of President.

Section 8. The Immediate Past President shall serve as primary advisor to the President and, in the absence of the President and Vice President, assume duties as President.

Section 9. The Secretary shall keep a record of all meeting proceedings and manage all correspondence under the direction of the President.

Section 10. The Treasurer shall manage all funds of the HRCVO. An HRCVO account will be maintained by the Treasurer at an approved financial establishment.

a. The President may authorize expenditures of \$500.00 or less. Any expenditure less than \$500.00 will be coordinated with the Treasurer at the earliest opportunity and details reported at the next scheduled HRCVO meeting.

b. A monthly Treasurer's report shall be presented at all HRCVO meetings. Copies of all monthly reports shall be maintained by the Treasurer for inspection anytime an audit is conducted.

c. An audit shall be conducted annually in December. When unforeseen circumstances necessitate a change in office for the President or Treasurer within a two-year term, an audit will be conducted within 30 days after the change of office.

d. The President, Vice President and Treasurer are the only HRCVO Officers authorized to sign checks for the HRCVO. Two signatures will be required for any HRCVO check.

Section 11. The Chaplain shall provide the invocation and benediction at all HRCVO meetings. Unless otherwise cited in these Bylaws, the Chaplain will provide the invocation and benediction at all HRCVO ceremonies. The Chaplain will maintain a supply of HRCVO Get Well and Sympathy cards to be mailed as circumstances dictate.

Section 12. There will be no limitations regarding consecutive terms of office.

ARTICLE VI

Meetings

Section 1. HRCVO Meetings will be held on the fourth Monday of each month, except December, unless otherwise adjusted by the HRCVO. Details of each meeting time and location shall be conveyed to each member organization, normally via email.

Section 2. The meeting scheduled on the fourth Monday of January during even numbered years will be held predominantly for the purpose of installing newly elected officers.

Section 3. Special meetings of the HRCVO may be called by the President, four members of the Executive Board, or seven member organizations in good standing. Except in the case of emergency, at least three days notice of any HRCVO meeting will be given.

ARTICLE VII
Executive Board

Section 1. The HRCVO Officers, including Directors, shall constitute the Executive Board.

Section 2. The Executive Board shall provide general oversight for HRCVO affairs between meetings, make recommendations to the HRCVO, and perform other duties as specified by the HRCVO. Actions of the Executive Board will be subject to direction of the HRCVO.

Section 3. The Executive Board shall meet when deemed necessary by the President or any four members of the Board.

Section 4. When deemed necessary due to emergent circumstances, the Executive Board may take action that is in concert with that authorized during an HRCVO meeting. Any such action must be reported by the Board at the next HRCVO meeting.

Section 5. A quorum for an Executive Board meeting vote shall be five members.

ARTICLE VIII
Committees

Section 1. An Audit Committee of three members, selected by the President-elect, shall be appointed by the President during a meeting when an election is held. The Audit Committee shall audit the Treasurer's accounts and report findings and recommendations to the HRCVO. Additional audits may be conducted as directed by the President or HRCVO.

Section 2. The President shall appoint other committees, standing or special, as the HRCVO or Executive Board deems necessary:

a. The President shall appoint all Committee Chairs. Committee members may be appointed by the President or Committee Chairman.

b. The President shall be an ex-officio member of all committees except the Nominating Committee.

c. The HRCVO must approve dissolving a Committee.

ARTICLE IX
Finances

Section 1. The HRCVO is a nonprofit organization operated solely and exclusively for the purposes delineated in Article II of these Bylaws.

Section 2. No Member Organization shall be liable for any debts, liabilities or other financial obligations incurred by the HRCVO.

Section 3. No Officer of the HRCVO shall be liable for any debts, liabilities or other financial obligations incurred by the HRCVO other than within the proper exercise of functions associated with office.

Section 4. The HRCVO must approve all fundraising campaigns.

Section 5. No individual, member organization, or other entity may solicit funds or otherwise ask for support at any HRCVO meeting or functions.

a. The President may be petitioned to grant a waiver.

b. Waivers must be based on applicability to HRCVO objectives under Article II of the Bylaws.

c. For waivers that are deemed appropriate, only the President may call for a vote from the HRCVO.

ARTICLE X **Observances**

Section 1. The HRCVO shall organize a suitable observance or plan for participation in the observance of Veterans Day and any other patriotically-oriented venue or event.

Section 2. The format of observance shall be established at HRCVO meetings with suitable lead-time to allow for planning and execution of required action.

Section 3. A member organization shall normally be selected as Co-Sponsor for an adopted observance.

Section 4. Normal selection of a member organization to Co-Sponsor an event shall be accomplished using a sequential rotating roster approved by the HRCVO, thereby ensuring equal opportunity and responsibility for each member organization.

a. The President, acting on behalf of the HRCVO direction, shall work in close concert with an event Co-Sponsor in all aspects of event planning and execution.

b. When a member organization declines selection as a Co-Sponsor for an event, the organization will be moved to the bottom of the roster rotation and replaced with the following member organization.

Section 5. An event Co-Sponsor shall:

a. Advise the HRCVO President of acceptance.

b. Attend at least four HRCVO meetings during the year preceding the event.

c. Agree to attend all HRCVO meetings during the year of the event.

d. Provide personnel to assist in planning and executing the event.

Section 6. For Veterans Day Events, the event Co-Sponsor shall:

a. Appoint a Co-Marshall that holds current membership in the Co-sponsoring organization and obtain a photo and short biography for HRCVO use.

- b. Assist with the wreath laying ceremony.
- c. Arrange for the Co-Marshal to give a short speech at the luncheon.
- d. Develop a proclamation and attend all arranged signing ceremonies.
- e. Coordinate obtaining a Chaplain who will provide the invocation and benediction for all events.

Section 7. For Veterans Day Events, the HRCVO shall:

a. Secure a Grand Marshal and obtain a picture and short biography. The Grand Marshal will give a speech at the Memorial Service and participate in the Memorial Service wreath laying ceremony.

- a. Secure a Grand Marshal and obtain a picture and short biography.
- b. Secure special guests and dignitary vehicles.
- c. Prepare a parade sequence and script.
- d. Prepare a program and brochure.
- e. Publicize the Veterans Day Proclamation signing, parade and luncheon.
- f. Host the Veterans Day Luncheon following the parade.

Section 8. Removal of a member organization as an event Co-Sponsor:

a. The HRCVO, by way of majority vote, may remove assignment of a member organization as an event Co-Sponsor if the organization does not adequately fulfill assigned responsibilities.

b. A removed Co-Sponsor may be replaced by another member organization, or the HRCVO may choose to assume responsibility for the event.

ARTICLE XI Parliamentary Authority

The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern the HRCVO in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws and any special rules of order the HRCVO may adopt.

ARTICLE XII Amendment of Bylaws

The Bylaws may be amended at any regular meeting of the HRCVO by a two-thirds vote, providing that the amendment has been presented in writing during a prior meeting.

ARTICLE XIII
Dissolution

The Hampton Roads Council of Veterans Organizations shall provide that the distribution of assets of the corporation in the process of dissolution shall be in accordance with Virginia Code Chapter 10, Section 13. All assets will be divided and equally distributed to Veterans Affairs Medical Center (VAMC) and Veterans Affairs Voluntary Services (VAVS) Program, Hampton, Virginia.

*This is to certify approval and adoption of revised by-laws for the
Hampton Roads Council of Veterans Organizations
by vote to the HRCVO effective 25 April 2022,*

All previous versions of the HRCVO By-Laws are hereby superseded.

Daniel Doyle
President

William Singleton
Vice- President

Attested to by Directors:

Michael Bukowski

Kathleen Goodall

Scott Breuer